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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On August 27, 1999, David A. Huddlestonsmith, M.D., filed a petition appealing the decision of the State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (Board) to deny his application for licensure as a physician and surgeon.  The Board alleged in its amended answer filed on February 9, 2000, that Huddlestonsmith engaged in a pattern of personal use of marijuana, prescribed and administered drugs to individuals in Missouri without a license to practice medicine in the state, and pled guilty to misdemeanor stealing in connection with a fraudulent prescription.  Huddlestonsmith alleges that he has been rehabilitated from the marijuana use and misdemeanor stealing offense and that the medications he prescribed were for his family members and close friends of family members while he was on a visit from California where he is a licensed physician.


On April 17, 2001, the parties filed a joint stipulation of facts.  James B. Deutsch with Blitz, Bardgett & Deutsch, L.C., represents Huddlestonsmith.  Assistant Attorney General Kevin F. Henessey represents the Board.  The last written brief was filed on May 18, 2001.

Findings of Fact

1. Huddlestonsmith was formerly known as David Smith, M.D.

2. David Smith, M.D., graduated from the University of Missouri Medical School and was licensed in Missouri as a physician on June 20, 1970, License No. MD32843.

3. David Smith’s Missouri medical license, No. MD32843, expired in 1979 and was not renewed for at least two consecutive renewal periods.  Since approximately 1973, David Smith (n/k/a David Huddlestonsmith) was practicing and licensed in California.  David Smith failed to advise the Board of his California address and thus did not receive renewal notices from Missouri and did not know that his Missouri license lapsed in 1979.

4. David Huddlestonsmith, M.D., is not currently licensed to practice medicine in Missouri.

5. Huddlestonsmith does not have a current Missouri Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) number.

6. Huddlestonsmith is and was at all relevant times licensed to practice medicine in the State of California under License No. C00033945.  Huddlestonsmith does, and at all relevant times did, hold a California BNDD number and a Federal DEA registration.

Specific Facts Pertinent to Licensing Decision

7. Between May 19, 1998, and March 31, 1999, Huddlestonsmith did not possess a valid Missouri medical license and was not a registered Missouri physician within the meaning of Missouri law.  Huddlestonsmith had a medical practice in California prior to this time and was in Missouri on an extended visit with his family during this period.

8. Between May 19, 1998, and March 31, 1999, Huddlestonsmith did not possess a valid Missouri BNDD controlled substances registration number.

9. Between May 19, 1998, and March 31, 1999, Huddlestonsmith physically examined, diagnosed illnesses or medical conditions, and medically treated several people in Missouri, including:  Tony Huddlestonsmith (his wife), Debbie Trabue (his sister), Larry Trabue (his brother-in-law), Lindsay Stover (his niece), Patricia Ritchey (his mother), and Cary and Tammy Kean (close friends of his sister Debbie Trabue).

10. Although Huddlestonsmith did chart, document and record the treatments and medications for these patients, such charts were taken back to California during late 1998 and early 1999 by Huddlestonsmith’s wife and sister, and were subsequently lost or destroyed by his wife during a period of discord, which eventually resulted in divorce.

11. On or about May 27, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Combivent Oral Inhaler, Desyrel, Provera, and Inderal LA for his sister, Debbie Trabue.  The prescriptions were filled by mail-order from Preferred Prescriptions.

12. On or about June 1, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Floxin for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

13. On or about June 20, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Premarin for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

14. On or about July 7, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Diflucan with refills for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

15. On or about July 9, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Marcaine with refills for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

16. On or about July 12, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Xanax for his sister’s friend, Tammy Kean.  The prescription was filled by Schnuck’s Pharmacy in Columbia, Missouri.

17. Xanax is a brand name for alprazolam, a controlled substance.

18. On or about July 14, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed metronidazole for his brother-in-law, Larry Trabue.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

19. On or about July 14, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Zithromax with refills for his sister, Debbie Trabue.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

20. On or about July 16, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Triotann with refills for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

21. On or about July 16, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Beconase-AQ with refills for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

22. On or about July 18, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed alprazolam for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

23. Alprazolam is a controlled substance.

24. On or about July 23, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Premarin, Midrin, and Synthroid for his sister, Debbie Trabue.  The prescriptions were filled by mail-order from Preferred Prescriptions.

25. On or about July 23, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Injectable Testosterone Cyprionate with refills for his brother-in-law, Larry Trabue.  This prescription was filled by mail-order from Preferred Prescriptions.

26. Testosterone Cyprionate is a controlled substance.

27. On or about July 25, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Premarin for his sister, Debbie Trabue.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

28. On or about August 13, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Volmax, Rynatan and Lodine for his sister, Debbie Trabue.  The prescriptions were filled by mail-order from Preferred Prescriptions.

29. On or about September 9, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Doxepin for his sister’s friend, Cary Kean.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

30. On or about December 15, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Sodium Chloride for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

31. On or about December 16, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Metrogel for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

32. On or about December 16, 1998, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Cephalexin for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

33. On or about February 4, 1999, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Premarin for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

34. On or about February 18, 1999, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Cyclobenzaprine for his niece, Lindsay Stover.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

35. On or about February 19, 1999, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Dyazide for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

36. On or about March 18, 1999, Huddlestonsmith prescribed Propranolol for his mother, Patricia Ritchey.  The prescription was filled at D&H Prescription Drug in Columbia, Missouri.

37. In the summer of 1998, Huddlestonsmith once injected Tammy Kean with Marcaine in a multi-dose vial obtained from a prescription originally written for Lindsay Stover earlier that year.

38. Between July 23, 1998, and May 20, 1999, Debbie Trabue, a then-registered nurse, injected Tony Huddlestonsmith with Testosterone Cyprionate obtained from a prescription purportedly written for Larry Trabue.

39. On July 23, 1998, Huddlestonsmith wrote a prescription purported to be for Larry Trabue for Testosterone Cyprionate, knowing that the medication was intended for use by Tony Huddlestonsmith.

40. Huddlestonsmith wrote the prescription in Mr. Trabue’s name in furtherance of a scheme to obtain payment for the medication from Mr. Trabue’s insurance.

41. Huddlestonsmith was a knowing participant with Tony Huddlestonsmith and Debbie Trabue in a scheme to defraud Larry Trabue’s insurer for the cost of the medication at the time he wrote the Testosterone Cyprionate prescription in Larry Trabue’s name on July 23, 1998.

42. As a result of the prescription that Huddlestonsmith wrote for Larry Trabue but was for the intended use of Tony Huddlestonsmith and Debbie Trabue, who lacked money to pay for the prescription, Huddlestonsmith was charged with stealing in the Boone County Circuit Court.  On October 15, 1999, Huddlestonsmith pled guilty to the Class A misdemeanor of stealing by deceit in violation of section 570.030.
  Huddlestonsmith was sentenced to nine months in the county jail.  The court suspended execution of the sentence, however, and placed Huddlestonsmith on two years of unsupervised probation with the special conditions that he perform 40 hours of community service and pay $493.38 in restitution.  At this time, the community service has been completed, and the restitution has been paid.

43. Huddlestonsmith never asked for compensation for the medical treatments he rendered in Missouri between May 19, 1998, and March 31, 1999.  All such treatments were for minor illnesses or for long-term medications previously prescribed, and all prescriptions and treatments were for family members and close friends of his family.  Huddlestonsmith believed there to be no legal impediment to such limited medical practice for relatives and friends while visiting his family in Missouri.

44. Huddlestonsmith has engaged in a pattern of personal use of marijuana, a controlled substance, and smoked marijuana as recently as November 1998.  Huddlestonsmith has not smoked marijuana since that time.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the petition.  Section 621.120.  Huddlestonsmith has the burden to show that he is entitled to licensure.  Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  The Board’s answer sets forth the grounds 

on which we have jurisdiction to deny the application.  Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984).


We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the Board.  J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20 (Mo. banc 1990).  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  


Section 334.100.1 provides: 


1.  The board may refuse to issue or renew any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required pursuant to this chapter for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section. . . .

The word “may” in section 334.100.1 means discretion, not a mandate.  Finch, 514 S.W.2d at 614.  The discretion is now ours.  Id. at 614-15.  

I.  Section 334.100.2(2):  Guilty Plea and Conviction


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith should be denied licensure on the grounds of his guilty plea and conviction of stealing by deceit under section 334.100.2(2), which allows denial if:


(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

Huddlestonsmith argues that he has accepted responsibility for his conduct that resulted in the conviction and has shown sufficient rehabilitation.


As a result of the prescription that Huddlestonsmith wrote for Larry Trabue that was not for the intended use of Trabue, Huddlestonsmith was charged with stealing by deceit.  He pled 

guilty to the Class A misdemeanor of stealing by deceit in violation of section 570.030.1, which provides:  

A person commits the crime of stealing if he or she appropriates property or services of another with the purpose to deprive him or her thereof, either without his or her consent or by means of deceit or coercion.  


Stealing by deceit is reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a physician.  The qualifications of a physician include good moral character.  Section 334.031.1.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana St. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 (La. 1959); Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).  A guilty plea and conviction of stealing by deceit shows a lack of good moral character.


An essential element is one that must be proved for a conviction in every case.  State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.  State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  It necessarily includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 333 (10th ed. 1993).  Fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of the crime of stealing by deceit.


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 

(Mo. banc 1929)).  Stealing by deceit involves moral turpitude.


We conclude that there is a basis for denying Huddlestonsmith’s application for entering a plea of guilty to an offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of a physician, an offense having essential elements of fraud and dishonesty, and an offense involving moral turpitude pursuant to section 334.100.2(2).  We will address in subdivision XII of this decision whether Huddlestonsmith has shown sufficient rehabilitation.

II.  Section 334.100.2(4):  Misconduct, Fraud, etc.


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(4), which provides the following grounds for denial:   

(4) Misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, unethical conduct or unprofessional conduct in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter[.]

The Board argues that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied for knowingly writing a false prescription in furtherance of the scheme to defraud Larry Trabue’s insurer.  


Misconduct is defined as “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff’d, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Misrepresentation is falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 744 (10th ed. 1993).  Unethical conduct and unprofessional conduct include “any conduct which by common opinion and fair judgment is determined to be unprofessional or dishonorable.”  Perez v. Missouri Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 803 S.W.2d 160, 164 (Mo. App., W.D. 1991).


Huddlestonsmith knowingly wrote a false and fraudulent prescription for Larry Trabue’s insurance to pay for medication intended for Tony Huddlestonsmith.  We conclude that there is a basis for denying his application for misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, unethical 

conduct and unprofessional conduct in the performance of his functions or duties as a physician pursuant to section 334.100.2(4).

III.  Section 334.100.2(4)(a):  Obtaining a Fee by Fraud or Deception

The Board alleged in its complaint that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied under section 334.100.2(4)(a), which allows denial for:  


Obtaining or attempting to obtain any fee, charge, tuition or other compensation by fraud, deception or misrepresentation; willfully and continually overcharging or overtreating patients; or charging for visits to the physician’s office which did not occur unless the services were contracted for in advance, or for services which were not rendered or documented in the patient’s records[.]


The joint stipulation filed by the parties offers no evidence in support any violation of section 334.100.2(4)(a).  The Board admits in its brief that it has abandoned that allegation.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied on the basis of section 334.100.2(4)(a).

IV.  Sections 334.100.2(4)(h):  Prescribing Outside Professional Practice


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(4)(h) for prescribing drugs outside the course of professional practice.  Section 334.100.2(4)(h) allows denial for:


Signing a blank prescription form; or dispensing, prescribing, administering or otherwise distributing any drug, controlled substance or other treatment without sufficient examination, or for other than medically accepted therapeutic or experimental or investigative purposes duly authorized by a state or federal agency, or not in the course of professional practice, or not in good faith to relieve pain and suffering, or not to cure an ailment, physical infirmity or disease, except as authorized in section 334.104[.]

(Emphasis added.)  The Board argues that the fraudulent prescription for Larry Trabue was not written in the course of Huddlestonsmith’s professional practice.  


Prescribing a medication “not in the course of professional practice” means, for example, that the prescribing was “not in good faith to relieve pain and suffering” or “not to cure an ailment, physical infirmity or disease.”  Section 334.100.2(4)(h).  The stipulation of the parties establishes that, with respect to Larry Trabue, the prescription was not written in good faith to relieve pain or cure a disease.  The stipulation shows that Huddlestonsmith wrote the prescription purported to be for Larry Trabue, knowing that the medication was intended for use by Tony Huddlestonsmith, his wife, in order to obtain payment for the medication from Trabue’s insurer.  The prescription was clearly not within the course of professional practice with respect to Trabue.  We conclude that there is a basis for denying Huddlestonsmith’s application for prescribing a medication outside the course of professional practice pursuant to section 334.100.2(4)(h).

V.  Section 334.100.2(4)(j):  Terminating Care of Patient

The Board alleged in its complaint that Huddlestonsmith’s license should be denied on the basis of section 334.100.2(4)(j), which allows denial for: 

Terminating the medical care of a patient without adequate notice or without making other arrangements for the continued care of the patient[.]


The joint stipulation filed by the parties offers no evidence in support of a violation of section 334.100.2(4)(j).  The Board admits in its brief that it has abandoned that allegation.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied on the basis of section 334.100.2(4)(j).

VI.  Section 334.100.2(4)(n):  Failure to Pay License Renewal Fees


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied for his failure to timely pay license renewal fees pursuant to section 334.100.2(4)(n), which allows denial for:

Failure to timely pay license renewal fees specified in this chapter[.]


The stipulated facts do not state that Huddlestonsmith failed to timely pay license renewal fees.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied on the basis of section 334.100.2(4)(n).  

VII.  Section 334.100.2(5):  Harmful Conduct, Incompetency, Gross Negligence


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith failed to monitor or refer a patient and failed to provide follow-up care in violation of section 334.100.2(5), which allows denial for: 


Any conduct or practice which is or might be harmful or dangerous to the mental or physical health of a patient or the public; or incompetency, gross negligence or repeated negligence in the performance of the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter.  For the purposes of this subdivision, “repeated negligence” means the failure, on more than one occasion, to use that degree of skill and learning ordinarily used under the same or similar circumstances by the member of the applicant’s or licensee’s profession[.]


The joint stipulation filed by the parties offers no evidence in support of a violation of section 334.100.2(5), and the Board admits in its brief that it has abandoned that allegation.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied on the basis of section 334.100.2(5).

VIII.  Section 334.100.2(6):  Violations of Chapter 344

The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(6), which allows denial for:


Violation of, or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting or enabling any person to violate, any provision of this chapter, or of any lawful rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this chapter[.]

The Board claims that Huddlestonsmith violated provisions related to:  (a) the practice of medicine, (b) minimum educational requirements, and (c) treatment records. 

A.  Practice of Medicine


The Board cites section 334.010.1, which prohibits the practice of medicine in Missouri by unlicensed persons:


1.  It shall be unlawful for any person not now a registered physician within the meaning of the law to practice medicine or surgery in any of its departments, to engage in the practice of medicine across state lines or to profess to cure and attempt to treat the sick and others afflicted with bodily or mental infirmities, or engage in the practice of midwifery in this state, except as herein provided.


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith practiced medicine in Missouri without a valid medical license, including physical examinations, diagnoses of illnesses or medical conditions and medical treatments, and the prescribing of medications for Larry and Debbie Trabue, Tammy and Cary Kean, Patricia Ritchey, Lindsay Stover, and Tony Huddlestonsmith.  Huddlestonsmith alleges that no provision of law prohibits the treatment of minor ailments or the writing of routine prescriptions without compensation for family members and close friends of his family while on a temporary visit to this state.  Huddlestonsmith points out that he was a fully licensed and certified physician under California law and had a California registration to prescribe and dispense drugs.  Huddlestonsmith believed that there was no legal impediment to a limited medical practice for relatives and friends while on a visit to Missouri.


We note that Huddlestonsmith’s examinations, diagnoses, treatments, and prescriptions in Missouri were not during a “brief” or “temporary” visit to this state.  The time period of those activities was from May 19, 1998, through March 31, 1999, nearly a one-year period.  


During that period of time, Huddlestonsmith physically examined, diagnosed illnesses or medical conditions, and medically treated the following people in Missouri:  Tony Huddlestonsmith (his wife), Debbie Trabue (his sister), Larry Trabue (his brother-in-law),

Lindsay Stover (his niece), Patricia Ritchey (his mother), and Cary and Tammy Kean (close friends of his sister Debbie Trabue).  Huddlestonsmith wrote, charted and recorded more than 30 prescriptions, many with refills.  He never asked for compensation for the medical treatments he rendered.


The statute does not define the practice of medicine.  In State v. Errington, 355 S.W.2d 952, 956 (Mo. banc 1962), the court stated that the “practice of medicine” is:

a term of common understanding and meaning and universally accepted to include, although not necessarily limited to, the acts of one publicly representing himself to be trained in the treatment and cure of ills of the human body and purporting for a fee to diagnose bodily ills and effectuate a cure or an alleviation thereof.   


When Huddlestonsmith wrote more than 30 prescriptions over nearly a one-year period for medications that included controlled substances, he represented through writing the prescriptions that he was trained to provide medical treatment.  Huddlestonsmith provided medical treatment not only for his relatives, but also for friends of his relatives.  Although Huddlestonsmith did not ask for a fee, the numerous treatments over an extensive period of time show that he was engaged in the practice of medicine in Missouri without a license in violation of section 334.010.1.  We conclude that there is a basis to deny his application pursuant to section 334.100.2(6) for violating section 334.010.1.    

B.  Minimum Educational Requirements


The Board cites the minimum educational requirements for the reinstatement of a lapsed Missouri medical license, as set out in 4 CSR 150-2.150:

(1) The board may require each applicant seeking to restore to good standing a license, certificate or permit issued under Chapter 334, RSMo, which has been revoked, suspended or inactive for any reason for more than two (2) years, to present with his/her application evidence to establish the following:


(A) Satisfactorily completing twenty-five (25) hours of continuing medical education courses, either American Medical Association Category I or American Osteopathic Association Category I or IA, for each year during which the license, certificate or permit was revoked, suspended or inactive; and


(B) Successfully passing, during the revoked, suspended or inactive period, one (1) of the following:  the American Specialty Board’s certifying examination in the physician’s field of specialization, Component 2 of the Federation Licensing Examination (FLEX) before January 1, 1994, Step 3 of the United States Medical Licensing Examination (USMLE) or the Federation of State Medical Board’s Special Purpose Examination (SPEX).


The joint stipulation filed by the parties offers no evidence of a violation of 4 CSR 150-2.150 as alleged by the Board, and the Board makes no mention of that regulation in its brief.  The Board appears to have abandoned that allegation.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied on the basis of 4 CSR 150-2.150.

C.  Treatment Records


The Board alleged in its complaint that Huddlestonsmith failed to create and maintain charts and treatment records on his Missouri patients in violation of section 334.107(1) and (2), which provides:  

Nothing in section 334.106 and this section shall deny the right of the board to deny, revoke or suspend the license of any physician or otherwise discipline any physician who:


(1) Prescribes, administers or dispenses a controlled substance that is nontherapeutic in nature or nontherapeutic in the manner in which it is prescribed, administered or dispensed, or fails to keep complete and accurate ongoing records of the diagnosis and treatment plan;


(2) Fails to keep complete and accurate records of controlled substances received, prescribed, dispensed and administered . . . .  A physician shall keep records of controlled substances received, prescribed, dispensed and administered[.]


The stipulation of the parties shows, and the Board admits in its brief, that Huddlestonsmith created and maintained charts and treatment records on his Missouri patients, although those records were lost or destroyed.  Therefore, licensure may not be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(6) on the basis of the recordkeeping requirements of section 334.107(1) 

and (2). 

IX.  Section 334.100.2(13):  Violation of Drug Laws

The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(13), which allows denial for:


Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]


The Board cites section 334.107, which provides that a physician who prescribes drugs inconsistent with the requirements of state and federal law may be denied a license:

Nothing in section 334.106 and this section shall deny the right of the board to deny, revoke or suspend the license of any physician or otherwise discipline any physician who:


(1) Prescribes, administers or dispenses a controlled substance that is nontherapeutic in nature or nontherapeutic in the manner in which it is prescribed, administered or dispensed, or fails to keep complete and accurate ongoing records of the diagnosis and treatment plan;


(2) Fails to keep complete and accurate records of controlled substances received, prescribed, dispensed and administered, and disposal of drugs listed in the Missouri comprehensive drug control act contained in chapter 195, RSMo, or of controlled substances scheduled in the Federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 21 U.S.C. 801, et seq.  A physician shall keep records of controlled substances received, prescribed, dispensed and administered, and disposal of these drugs shall include the date of receipt of the drugs, the sale or disposal of the drugs by the physician, the name and address of the person receiving the drugs, and the reason for the disposal or the dispensing of the drugs to the person;


(3) Writes false or fictitious prescriptions for controlled substances as defined in the Missouri comprehensive drug control act, chapter 195, RSMo, or for controlled substances scheduled in the Federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 21 U.S.C. 801, et seq.; or


(4) Prescribes or administers, or dispenses in a manner which is inconsistent with provisions of the Missouri drug control act contained in chapter 195, RSMo, or the Federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 21 U.S.C. 801, et seq.


The Board cites section 195.030.2, which states that physicians are required to register with the Missouri Department of Health before prescribing controlled substances:


2.  No person shall manufacture, compound, mix, cultivate, grow, or by any other process produce or prepare, distribute, dispense or prescribe any controlled substance and no person as a wholesaler shall supply the same, without having first obtained a registration issued by the department of health in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by it.  No registration shall be granted for a term exceeding three years.

(Emphasis added.)  The regulations of the Missouri Department of Health governing the requirements for controlled substances are set forth in 19 CSR 30-1.


The term “dispensing” includes the act of prescribing a controlled substance pursuant to section 195.010, which provides:


(11) “Dispense”, to deliver a narcotic or controlled dangerous drug to an ultimate user or research subject by or pursuant to the lawful order of a practitioner including the prescribing, administering, packaging, labeling, or compounding necessary to prepare the substance for such delivery. . . .


Huddlestonsmith argues that he was fully licensed and certified in California to prescribe drugs.  He insists that the routine prescriptions for family members and close friends of his family were not violations of the law.  We disagree.


Huddlestonsmith prescribed and administered Xanax (alprazolam), a Schedule IV controlled substance under section 195.017.8(2)(a), and Testosterone Cyprionate, a Schedule III controlled substance under section 195.017.6(5)(z).  Huddlestonsmith prescribed these controlled substances in Missouri without registering with the Missouri Department of Health in violation of section 195.030.2.  The fact that the prescriptions were for minor illnesses or for long-term medications previously prescribed is irrelevant.  We conclude that there is a basis for denying his application under sections 334.100.2(13) and 334.107 for violating drug laws.
X.  Section 334.100.2(14):  False Statement

The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(14), which allows denial for:


Knowingly making, or causing to be made, or aiding, or abetting in the making of, a false statement in any birth, death or other certificate or document executed in connection with the practice of the person’s profession[.]

The Board alleges that the fraudulent prescription for Larry Trabue was a false statement knowingly made by Huddlestonsmith in violation of section 334.100.2(14).  


We conclude that there is a basis for denying Huddlestonsmith’s application for knowingly making a false statement in a document executed in connection with the practice of his profession in violation of section 334.100.2(14).  

XI.  Section 334.100.2(22):  Personal Use of Controlled Substance

The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith’s application should be denied pursuant to section 334.100.2(22), which allows denial if an applicant shows:


A pattern of personal use or consumption of any controlled substance unless it is prescribed, dispensed or administered by another physician who is authorized by law to do so[.]


Huddlestonsmith has engaged in a pattern of personal use of marijuana, a Schedule I controlled substance under section 195.017.2(4)(s), and smoked marijuana as recently as November 1998.  Huddlestonsmith has not smoked marijuana since that time.  We conclude that there is a basis for denying his application for engaging in a pattern of personal use of a controlled substance under section 334.100.2(22).  
XII.  Section 334.031.1:  Good Moral Character and Rehabilitation


The Board alleges that Huddlestonsmith fails to meet the good moral character requirement of section 334.031.1 as demonstrated by his pattern of illegal use of a controlled substance, participation in scheme to defraud Larry Trabue’s insurer, repeated instances of unauthorized practice of medicine, and failure to obey state laws concerning controlled substances.  


Section 334.031.1 provides in part:

Candidates for licenses as physicians and surgeons shall furnish satisfactory evidence of their good moral character[.]


Unless the statutes on licensure provide otherwise, a prior conviction or prior conduct cannot preclude an applicant from demonstrating that he has become rehabilitated.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. De Vore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 484 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  Therefore, we consider the nature and seriousness of the conduct, the relationship to the profession for which licensure is sought, the date of the conduct and conviction, the progress of the applicant since then, and any other evidence relating to the extent to which the applicant has been rehabilitated.  Id.  The courts expect an applicant who claims rehabilitation to at least acknowledge guilt and embrace a new moral code.  Francois, 880 S.W.2d at 603.


Huddlestonsmith engaged in a pattern of personal use of marijuana and smoked marijuana as recently as November 1998.  In 1998 he participated in a scheme to defraud Larry Trabue’s insurer.  On July 23, 1998, Huddlestonsmith wrote a prescription purported to be for Larry Trabue for Testosterone Cyprionate, knowing that the medication was intended for use by Tony Huddlestonsmith in furtherance of a scheme to obtain payment for the medication from Mr. Trabue’s insurance.  On October 15, 1999, Huddlestonsmith pled guilty to the Class A misdemeanor of stealing by deceit in violation of section 570.030.  He was sentenced to nine months in the county jail.  The court suspended execution of the sentence and placed Huddlestonsmith on two years of unsupervised probation.  Between May 19, 1998, and March 31, 1999, Huddlestonsmith engaged in the unauthorized practice of medicine in Missouri and failed to obey state laws concerning controlled substance registration.

The conduct related to personal use of marijuana was some two and a half years ago.  The parties stipulated that Huddlestonsmith has not smoked marijuana since that time.  The conduct related to the fraudulent prescription was three years ago.  Huddlestonsmith pled guilty to misdemeanor stealing less than two years ago and is still on probation.  Huddlestonsmith’s payment of restitution and completion of the community service weighs in favor of rehabilitation.  However, the seriousness of the conduct and the fact that the probation is not yet completed weighs against rehabilitation.  The pattern of personal use of a controlled substance and writing a fraudulent prescription are both serious and are directly related to a physician’s duties of prescribing and dispensing medications.  Huddlestonsmith has not shown that he has accepted responsibility for the unauthorized practice of medicine or the failure to obey state laws concerning controlled substance registration.  


Although Huddlestonsmith provided evidence that he has made progress toward rehabilitation, the facts show that it is too soon to judge whether his efforts at rehabilitation are 

temporary or will be of a permanent nature.  Based on all the facts set forth in the record, we conclude that Huddlestonsmith has not established rehabilitation. 

The granting of a professional license “places the seal of the state’s approval upon the licentiate and certifies to the public that he possesses these requisites” of good moral character and good reputation for honesty and integrity.  State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 

65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).  Huddlestonsmith has not yet shown that the law entitles him to that seal of approval.  Huddlestonsmith has not established that he meets the good moral character requirements of section 334.031.1.
Conclusion


We deny Huddlestonsmith’s application because he:


(1)  pled guilty to and was convicted of misdemeanor stealing, an offense:  a) reasonably related to the qualifications, functions and duties of a physician, b) having essential elements of fraud and dishonesty, and c) involving moral turpitude pursuant to section 334.100.2(2);


(2) wrote a fraudulent prescription, which constituted misconduct, fraud, misrepresentation, dishonesty, unethical conduct and unprofessional conduct in the performance of his functions or duties as a physician pursuant to section 334.100.2(4); 


(3) prescribed a drug outside the course of his professional practice pursuant to section 334.100.2(4)(h);


(4) practiced medicine in Missouri without a license pursuant to sections 334.010.1 and 334.100.2(6);  


(5) violated the drug laws set forth in section 195.030.2 as described in sections 334.100.2(13) and 334.107;


(6) knowingly made a false statement in a document executed in connection with the practice of his profession pursuant to section 334.100.2(14); 


(7) engaged in a pattern of personal use of marijuana, a controlled substance pursuant to section 334.100.2(22);


(8) failed to establish that he met the good moral character requirement of section 334.031.1; and


(9) failed to show sufficient rehabilitation from engaging in a pattern of personal use of marijuana, writing a fraudulent prescription, engaging in the unauthorized practice of medicine, and failing to obey state laws concerning controlled substances.

Huddlestonsmith did not:


(1) obtain a fee by fraud or deception under section 334.100.2(4)(a); 


(2) terminate the medical care of a patient without adequate notice under section 334.100.2(4)(j); 


(3) fail to timely pay license renewal fees under section 334.100.2(4)(n);


(4) fail to monitor or refer a patient or fail to provide follow-up care in violation of section 334.100.2(5);


(5) fail to meet the minimum educational requirements for reinstatement of a lapsed Missouri medical license under 4 CSR 150-2.150 in violation of 334.100.2(6); or 


(6) fail to comply with the recordkeeping requirements of section 334.107(1) and (2) in violation of 334.100.2(6). 


SO ORDERED on August 6, 2001.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH



Commissioner

�All statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.
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